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ACOM 
GENTILE CRISTALLI 
MILLER ARMENI SAVARESE 
DOMINIC P. GENTILE 
Nevada Bar No. 1923 
Email:  dgentile@gcmaslaw.com 
MICHAEL V. CRISTALLI 
Nevada Bar No. 6266 
Email: mcristalli@gcmaslaw.com 
ROSS MILLER 
Nevada Bar No. 8190 
Email: rmiller@gcmaslaw.com 
VINCENT SAVARESE III  
Nevada Bar No. 2467 
Email:  vsavarese@gcmaslaw.com  
410 South Rampart Blvd., Suite 420 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 
Tel:  (702) 880-0000 
Fax: (702) 778-9709 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
SERENITY WELLNESS CENTER, LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company, TGIG, LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company, NULEAF 
INCLINE DISPENSARY, LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company, NEVADA HOLISTIC 
MEDICINE, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company, TRYKE COMPANIES SO NV, LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company, TRYKE 
COMPANIES RENO, LLC, a Nevada limited 
liability company, GBS NEVADA PARTNERS, 
LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, 
FIDELIS HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada limited 
liability company, GRAVITAS NEVADA, LTD, 
a Nevada limited liability company, NEVADA 
PURE, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, 
MEDIFARM, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company,  MEDIFARM IV , LLC a Nevada 
limited liability company, DOE PLAINTIFFS I 
through X; and ROE ENTITY PLAINTIFFS I 
through X,  
  
         Plaintiffs, 
 
vs. 
 
THE STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT 
OF TAXATION,  
 
                                           Defendant. 
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Plaintiffs, SERENITY WELLNESS CENTER, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, 

TGIG, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, NULEAF INCLINE DISPENSARY, LLC, a  

Nevada limited liability company, NEVADA HOLISTIC MEDICINE, LLC, a Nevada limited 

liability company, TRYKE COMPANIES SO NV, LLC a Nevada limited liability company, 

TRYKE COMPANIES RENO, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, GBS NEVADA 

PARTNERS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, FIDELIS HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada 

limited liability company, GRAVITAS NEVADA, LTD, a Nevada limited liability company, 

NEVADA PURE, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, MEDIFARM, LLC, a Nevada 

limited liability company MEDIFARM IV, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; DOE 

PLAINTIFFS I through X; and ROE ENTITIES I through X, by and through their counsel, 

DOMINIC P. GENTILE, ESQ. and VINCENT SAVARESE III, ESQ., MICHAEL V. 

CRISTALLI, ESQ., and ROSS MILLER, ESQ., of the law firm of Gentile Cristalli Miller 

Armeni Savarese, hereby complain and allege against DEFENDANT STATE OF NEVADA, 

DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION; DOE DEFENDANTS I through X; and ROE ENTITY 

DEFENDANTS I through X, in their official and personal capacities, as follows: 

I. 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

 1. Plaintiff SERENITY WELLNESS CENTER, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited 

liability company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 2. Plaintiff TGIG, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited liability company and does 

business in Clark County, Nevada. 

3. Plaintiff NULEAF INCLINE DISPENSARY, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited 

liability company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 4. Plaintiff NEVADA HOLISTIC MEDICINE, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited 

liability company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 5. Plaintiff TRYKE COMPANIES SO NV, LLC was and is a Nevada limited 
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liability company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 6. Plaintiff TRYKE COMPANIES RENO, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited 

liability company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 7. Plaintiff GBS NEVADA PARTNERS, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited liability 

company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 8. Plaintiff FIDELIS HOLDINGS, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited liability 

company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 9. Plaintiff GRAVITAS NEVADA, LTD, was and is a Nevada limited liability 

company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 10. Plaintiff NEVADPURE, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited liability company and 

does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 11. Plaintiff MEDIFARM, LLC was and is a Nevada limited liability company and 

does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 12. Plaintiff MEDIFARM IV, LLC was and is a Nevada limited liability company 

and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 13. Defendant STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION (the 

�³�'�H�S�D�U�W�P�H�Q�W�´�����L�V���D�Q���D�J�H�Q�F�\���R�I���W�K�H���6�W�D�W�H���R�I���1�H�Y�D�G�D. The Department is responsible for licensing 

and regulating retail marijuana businesses in Nevada through its Marijuana Enforcement 

Division. 

14.  The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, association or 

otherwise of Doe Plaintiffs I through X, Roe Entity Plaintiffs I through X; Doe Defendants I 

through X; and Roe Entity Defendants I through X, inclusive, are unknown to Plaintiffs at 

this time, who therefore sue said Defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiffs are informed 

and believe, and thereupon allege, that each of the Defendants designated herein as Doe 

and/or Roe Entities is responsible in some manner for the events and occurrences herein 

referred to, and in some manner caused the injuries and damages to Plaintiffs alleged herein. 

And Plaintiffs will ask leave of the Court to amend this Complaint to insert the true names 

and capacities of all Doe and/or Roe Entity Plaintiffs and Defendants when the same have 
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been ascertained by Plaintiffs, together with the appropriate charging allegations, and to join 

such parties in this action. 

 15. Both jurisdiction and venue with respect to this action properly lie in this Court 

pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 13.040. 

II.  

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS  

16. The Nevada State Legislature passed a number of bills during the 2017 

legislative session that affected the licensing, regulation, and operation of recreational marijuana 

establishments in the state of Nevada. One of those bills, Assembly Bill 422, transferred 

responsibility for the registration, licensing, and regulation of marijuana establishments from the 

State of Nevada's Division of Public and Behavioral Health to the Department of Taxation. 

17. This legislation was added to the �Y�R�W�H�U�V�¶���D�S�S�U�R�Y�D�O���D�W���W�K�H�������������*�H�Q�H�U�D�O���(�O�H�F�W�L�R�Q���R�I��

2016 initiative petition, Ballot Question No. 2; �L�V�� �N�Q�R�Z�Q���D�V�� �W�K�H���³�5�H�J�X�O�D�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G�� �7�D�[�D�W�L�R�Q�� �R�I��

�0�D�U�L�M�X�D�Q�D�� �$�F�W�´; and is codified at NRS 453D.010, et seq.�1�H�Y�D�G�D�� �5�H�Y�L�V�H�G�� �6�W�D�W�X�W�H�V�� ���³�1�5�6�´����

pursuant to  

18. NRS 453D.020 (Findings and declarations) provides: 

      �³1.  In the interest of public health and public safety, and in 
order to better focus state and local law enforcement resources on 
crimes involving violence and personal property, the People of the 
State of Nevada find and declare that the use of marijuana should 
be legal for persons 21 years of age or older, and its cultivation and 
sale should be regulated similar to other legal businesses. 
      2.  The People of the State of Nevada find and declare that the 
cultivation and sale of marijuana should be taken from the domain 
of criminals and be regulated under a controlled system, where 
businesses will be taxed and the revenue will be dedicated to 
public education and the enforcement of the regulations of this 
chapter. 
      3.  The People of the State of Nevada proclaim that marijuana 
should be regulated in a manner similar to alcohol so that: 
      (a) Marijuana may only be purchased from a business that is 
licensed by the State of Nevada; 
      (b) Business owners are subject to a review by the State of 
Nevada to confirm that the business owners and the business 
location are suitable to produce or sell marijuana; 
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      (c) Cultivating, manufacturing, testing, transporting and 
selling marijuana will be strictly controlled through state licensing 
and regulation; 
      (d) Selling or giving marijuana to persons under 21 years of 
age shall remain illegal; 
      (e) Individuals will have to be 21 years of age or older to 
purchase marijuana; 
      (f) Driving under the influence of marijuana will remain 
illegal; and  
      (g) Marijuana sold in the State will be tested and labeled.�  ́
 

19. NRS 453D.200 (Duties of Department relating to regulation and licensing of  

marijuana establishments; information about consumers) provides:     

�³1.  Not later than January 1, 2018, the Department shall adopt all 
regulations necessary or convenient to carry out the provisions of 
this chapter. The regulations must not prohibit the operation of 
marijuana establishments, either expressly or through regulations 
that make their operation unreasonably impracticable. The 
regulations shall include: 
      (a) Procedures for the issuance, renewal, suspension, and 
revocation of a license to operate a marijuana establishment; 
      (b) Qualifications for licensure that are directly and 
demonstrably related to the operation of a marijuana 
establishment; 
�«�� 
2.  The Department shall approve or deny applications for 
licenses pursuant to NRS 453D.210�  ́(emphasis added). 
 

20. NRS 453D.210 (Acceptance of applications for licensing; priority in licensing; 

conditions for approval of application; limitations on issuance of licenses to retail marijuana 

stores; competing applications), in turn, provides, in pertinent part: 

�³4.  Upon receipt of a complete marijuana establishment license 
application, the Department shall, within 90 days: 
      (a) Issue the appropriate license if the license application is 
approved. 
5.  The Department shall approve a license application if: 
      (a) The prospective marijuana establishment has submitted an 
application in compliance with regulations adopted by the 
Department and the application fee required pursuant to NRS 
453D.2; 
6.  When competing applications are submitted for a proposed 
retail marijuana store within a single county, the Department shall 
use an impartial and numerically scored competitive bidding 
process to determine which application or applications among 
those competing will be approved�  ́(emphasis added).  
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21. According to an August 16, 2018 letter from the Department, pursuant to 

Section 80(3) of Adopted Regulation of the Department of Taxation, LCB File No. R092-17 

("R092-17"), the Department was responsible for allocating the licenses of recreational 

marijuana retail stores "to jurisdictions within each county and to the unincorporated area of 

the county proportionally based on the population of each jurisdiction and of the 

unincorporated area of the county.�  ́

22. The Department issued a notice for an application period wherein the 

Department sought applications from qualified applicants to award sixty-four (64) recreational 

marijuana retail store licenses throughout various jurisdictions in Nevada.  

23. The application period for those licenses, including thirty-one (31) licenses in 

Clark County, seven (7) licenses in Washoe County and one (1) license in Nye County, opened 

on September 7, 2018 and closed on September 20, 2018.   

24. Pursuant to Section 6.2 of the Recreational Marijuana Establishment License 

Application ���³�W�K�H�� �$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�´����issued by the Department, as enabled under the above-quoted 

provisions of NRS 453D.210, if the Department received more than one application for a license 

for a recreational marijuana retail store and the Department determined that more than one of the 

applications was complete and in compliance with R092-17, Sec. 78 and NRS 453D, the Department 

was required to rank the applications within each applicable locality for any applicants in a 

jurisdiction that limits the number of retail marijuana stores in order from first to last, with ranking 

being based on compliance with the provisions of R092-17 Sec. 80, NRS 453D and on the content of 

the applications relating to the following specifically-enumerated and objective published criteria: 

a. Operating experience of another kind of business by the owners, officers or board 

members that has given them experience which is applicable to the operation of a 

marijuana establishment. 

b. Diversity of the owners, officers or board members. 

c. Evidence of the amount of taxes paid and other beneficial financial contributions. 

d. Educational achievements of the owners, officers or board members. 
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e. �7�K�H���D�S�S�O�L�F�D�Q�W�¶�V���S�O�D�Q���I�R�U���F�D�U�H���� �T�X�D�O�L�W�\���D�Q�G���V�D�I�H�N�H�H�S�L�Q�J���R�I���P�D�U�L�M�X�D�Q�D���I�U�R�P���V�H�H�G���W�R��

sale. 

f. The financial plan and resources of the applicant, both liquid and illiquid. 

g. The experience of key personnel that the applicant intends to employ. 

h. Direct experience of the owners, officers, or board members of a medical 

marijuana establishment or marijuana establishment in this State. 

24. However, no numerical scoring values are assigned to any of the foregoing 

criteria enumerated in the Application. 

25. Moreover, Section 6.3 of the Application further provides that �³[a]pplications 

that have not demonstrated a sufficient response related to the criteria set forth above will not 

have additional [unspecified, unpublished] criteria considered in determining whether to issue a 

license and will not move forward in the application process�´�����H�P�S�K�D�V�L�V���D�G�G�H�G���� 

 26. Thus, by necessary implication, conversely, Section 6.3 of the Application  

textually subjects an Application which has in fact demonstrated a �³sufficient�  ́response related 

to the specific, published criteria set forth above to �³additional [unspecified, unpublished] 

criteria,�  ́consideration of which by the Department will determine whether or not a license is 

issued �D�Q�G���Z�K�H�W�K�H�U���R�U���Q�R�W���D���O�L�F�H�Q�V�H���$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q���Z�L�O�O���³move forward in the application process, 

notwithstanding the textual requirement of NRS 453 D. 200.1(b) that the Department shall adopt 

only regulations th�D�W���S�U�H�V�F�U�L�E�H���³�>�T�@�X�D�O�L�I�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�V���I�R�U���O�L�F�H�Q�V�X�U�H���W�K�D�W���D�U�H���G�L�U�H�F�W�O�\���D�Q�G demonstrably 

�U�H�O�D�W�H�G���W�R���W�K�H���R�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���D���P�D�U�L�M�X�D�Q�D���H�V�W�D�E�O�L�V�K�P�H�Q�W�´ (emphasis added).   

27.  No later than December 5, 2018, the Department was responsible for issuing 

conditional licenses to those applicants who score and rank high enough in each jurisdiction to be 

awarded one of the allocated licenses in accordance with the impartial competitive bidding process 

mandated by NRS 453D.210.  

28. The Department allocated ten (10) licenses for unincorporated Clark County, 

Nevada; ten (10) licenses for Las Vegas, Nevada; six (6) licenses for Henderson, Nevada; five (5) 

licenses for North Las Vegas, Nevada; six (6) licenses for Reno, Nevada; one (1) license for Sparks, 

Nevada; and one (1) license for Nye County, Nevada. 

APP00769



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Gentile Cristalli  
Miller Armeni Savarese 

Attorneys At Law 
410 S. Rampart Blvd. #420 

Las Vegas, NV 89145 
(702) 880-0000 

 

 

8 of 18 
 

29. Plaintiffs submitted Applications for licenses to own and operate recreational  

marijuana retail stores in compliance with the specified, published requirements of Department 

regulations together with the required application fee in accordance with NRS 453D.210. 

 30. Plaintiffs have been informed by the Department that all of their Applications to 

operate recreational marijuana retail stores were denied. 

31. In each instance, Plaintiffs were informed by letter from the Department stating 

that a license �Z�D�V���Q�R�W���J�U�D�Q�W�H�G���W�R���W�K�H���D�S�S�O�L�F�D�Q�W���³because it did not achieve a score high enough to 

�U�H�F�H�L�Y�H���D�Q���D�Y�D�L�O�D�E�O�H���O�L�F�H�Q�V�H���´ 

32. On information and belief, Plaintiffs allege that the �'�H�S�D�U�W�P�H�Q�W�¶�V��denial of their 

license applications was not properly based upon actual implementation of the impartial and 

objective competitive bidding process mandated by NRS 453D.210, but rather, was in fact based 

upon the arbitrary and capricious exercise of administrative partiality and favoritism. 

33. On information and belief, Plaintiffs allege conversely that that the Department 

improperly granted licenses to other competing applicants, likewise without actual 

implementation of the impartial and objective competitive bidding process mandated by NRS 

453D.210, but rather, based upon the arbitrary and capricious exercise of administrative 

partiality and favoritism. 

 34.  On information and belief, Plaintiffs allege that the Department has improperly 

granted more than one recreational marijuana store license per jurisdiction to certain applicants, 

owners, or ownership groups. 

I II. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Violation of Civil Rights) 

(Due Process: Deprivation of Property) 

(U.S. Const., Amendment XIV; Nev. Const., Art. 1, Sec. 1, 8; Title 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

35. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege all prior paragraphs as though fully set forth  

herein. 
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    36. The provisions of NRS 453D.200.2 and NRS 453D.210.4-6, affirmatively 

mandating that the Department �³�V�K�D�O�O� �́�approve and issue the appropriate license within a time 

certain if the prospective establishment submits an Application in compliance with published 

Department regulations promulgated in accordance with the limitations imposed by NRS 453. 

D.200.1(b) together with the required application fee; and, in the case of competing 

Applications, outranks competing applicants in accordance with an objective, impartial and 

numerically scored competitive bidding process, serve to create, as a matter of legislative intent, 

a statutory entitlement to receipt of the license by applicants who comply with and prevail 

competitively in accordance with those objective and impartial standards and procedures. 

37. �6�X�F�K���D�� �V�W�D�W�X�W�R�U�\���H�Q�W�L�W�O�H�P�H�Q�W���F�R�Q�V�W�L�W�X�W�H�V���D���³�S�U�R�S�H�U�W�\�� �L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�´ within the meaning 

and subject to the due process protections of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of 

the United States and Article 1, Sections 1 and 8 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada; and 

therefore, by definition, may not be denied arbitrarily, capriciously, corruptly or based upon 

administrative partiality or favoritism. 

38. However, acting under color of state law, the Department has effectively nullified 

and rendered illusory the legislative statutory entitlement to licensure of applicants who comply 

with and prevail competitively in accordance with the objective and impartial standards and 

procedures prescribed by the provisions of NRS 453D.200.2 and NRS 453D.210.4-6, by 

textually subjecting an Application which in fact provides �³�V�X�I�I�L�F�L�H�Q�W� �́� �U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�H�V�� �U�H�O�D�W�H�G�� �W�R�� �W�K�H��

published, enumerated and specific criteria set forth in the Application to approval pursuant to 

further, unpublished, �X�Q�V�S�H�F�L�I�L�H�G���D�Q�G���X�Q�D�V�F�H�U�W�D�L�Q�D�E�O�H���³�D�G�G�L�W�L�R�Q�D�O���F�U�L�W�H�U�L�D� �́��Z�K�L�F�K���D�U�H���Q�R�W���V�H�W���I�R�U�W�K��

therein, as a silent supplemental condition of licensure, thereby rendering the administrative 

regulation governing the Application and licensing process susceptible to ad hoc, non-

transparent, arbitrary, capricious or corrupt decision-making based upon administrative partiality 

or favoritism which cannot be discounted; thereby rendering that regulatory scheme 

unconstitutional on its face. 

39.  On information and belief, Plaintiffs further allege that pursuant to the 

implementation of the foregoing constitutionally-repugnant licensing process, the denial of their 
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Applications for licensure, were in fact affected by actual arbitrary, capricious or corrupt 

decision-making based upon administrative partiality or favoritism; and therefore, that that 

licensing process has thereby been rendered unconstitutional in its application as well as to 

Plaintiffs. 

40.  Plaintiffs have therefore been deprived of property without due process under 

color of state law in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United 

States and Article 1, Sections 1 and 8 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada. 

41. The Constitutional infirmity of the entire licensing process renders the denial of 

�3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶ Applications for licensure void and unenforceable, and Plaintiffs are entitled to a 

declaration as to the ineffectiveness thereof and an order enjoining the enforcement of those 

license denials. 

42. Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory relief with respect to the forgoing federal  

constitutional infirmities of the administrative licensing scheme pursuant to the provisions of 

Title 42�����8�Q�L�W�H�G���6�W�D�W�H�V���&�R�G�H�����³�8���6���&���´�������6�H�F�W�L�R�Q���������� and otherwise. 

43. Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory relief because a justiciable controversy exists 

that warrants a declaratory judgment pursuant to Nevada's Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, 

codified at NRS 30.010 to 30.160, inclusive.  

44. Plaintiffs and Defendant have adverse and/or competing interests in that the 

Department, through its Marijuana Enfo�U�F�H�P�H�Q�W���'�L�Y�L�V�L�R�Q�����K�D�V���G�H�Q�L�H�G���3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶���$pplications in 

in violation of Plaintiff's constitutional rights, Nevada law, and state policy. 

45. The Department's refusal to issue licenses to Plaintiffs affects Plaintiffs�¶ rights 

under NRS 453D, NAC 453D, R092-17, and other Nevada laws and regulations. 

46. Further, the Department's improper ranking of other applicants for licensure and 

subsequent, improper issuance of licenses to such other applicants adversely affects the rights of 

Plaintiff under NRS 453D, NAC 453D, R09217, and other Nevada laws and regulations. 

47. The Department's actions and/or inactions also have created an actual justiciable 

controversy ripe for judicial determination between Plaintiffs and the Department with respect to 

the construction, interpretation, and implementation of NRS 453D, NAC 453D, and R092-17, 
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and Plaintiffs have been harmed, and will continue to be harmed, by the Defendants' actions 

and/or inactions. 

 48. The Department's actions and/or inactions have further failed to appropriately 

address the necessary considerations and legislative intent of NRS 453D.210, designed to restrict 

monopolies.  

49.       Accordingly, Plaintiff seeks a declaration from this Court that, inter alia: 

a. The Department improperly denied Plaintiffs�¶ license Applications for the 

operation of a recreational marijuana establishment. 

b. The denial of such licenses to Plaintiffs was void ab initio;  

c. �7�K�H���S�U�R�F�H�G�X�U�H�V���H�P�S�O�R�\�H�G���L�Q���G�H�Q�\�L�Q�J���3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶���O�L�F�H�Q�V�H���$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�V violated 

Plaintiffs�¶ procedural and substantive due process rights and entitlement to 

equal protection of the law (as set forth infra) under the Nevada and United 

States Constitutions and, therefore, those license denials are void and 

unenforceable; 

d. The denials are void for vagueness and therefore unenforceable;  

e. Defendant acted arbitrarily and capriciously or in contravention of a legal duty 

and Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to a writ of mandamus; 

f. Plaintiffs are entitled to judicial review; and  

g. �7�K�H���'�H�S�D�U�W�P�H�Q�W�¶�V���G�H�Q�L�D�O���R�I���3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶���O�L�F�H�Q�V�H���$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�V��lacked substantial 

evidence. 

50. Plaintiffs also seek a declaration from this Court that the Department must issue 

licenses to Plaintiffs for the operation of a recreational marijuana establishment as applied for in 

that Plaintiffs�¶ would have been entitled to receive said licenses had the Department properly 

applied the provisions of NRS 453D, NAC Chapter 453D, and R092-17. 

51. Plaintiffs contend that a declaratory judgment is both necessary and proper at 

this time for the Court to determine the respective rights, duties, responsibilities and liabilities 

of Plaintiffs under NRS 453D, NAC Chapter 453D, R092-17, and other Nevada laws and 

regulations.  
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 52. Plaintiffs are also entitled to injunctive relief from the foregoing federal 

constitutional violations pursuant to the provisions of 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 and otherwise. 

 53. The Department's flawed interpretation of the provisions of NRS 453D, NAC 

Chapter 453D, and R092-17, and refusal to issue "conditional" licenses in accordance with the 

law constitute and cause continuing and irreparable harm to Plaintiffs, who have no adequate 

remedy at law. 

 54. The purpose of this administrative refusal was and is to unreasonably interfere 

with Plaintiffs�¶���E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���D�Q�G���F�D�X�V�H Plaintiffs to suffer irreparable harm.  

 55. The Department will suffer no harm by following the law with respect to issuing 

the licenses in question. 

 56. The Department's interpretation of NRS 453D, NAC Chapter 453D, and R092-17 

is flawed and Plaintiffs are likely to succeed on the merits in this litigation.  

 57. The public interest favors Plaintiffs because in the absence of injunctive relief, the 

consumers who would have benefitted �E�\�� �3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶�� �O�L�F�H�Q�V�X�U�H will have less available options 

from which they can receive recreational marijuana in accordance with legislative intent. 

 58. Therefore, Plaintiffs are entitled to preliminary injunctive relief, and after a trial 

on the merits, permanent injunctive relief, ordering the Department to issue the subject licenses 

to Plaintiffs in accordance with NRS 453D, NAC 453D, and R092-17. 

 59. Plaintiffs are also entitled to damages attributable to the above-identified due 

process violations pursuant to the provisions of 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 and otherwise. 

 60. As the actions of the Department have necessitated that Plaintiffs retain the legal 

services of Gentile Cristalli Miller Armeni Savarese, and incur fees and costs to bring this action, 

Plaintiffs are also entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs of suit.   

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Violation of Civil Rights) 

(Due Process: Deprivation of Liberty) 

(U.S. Const., Amendment XIV; Nev. Const., Art. 1, Sec. 1, 8; Title 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

61. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege all prior paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 
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62. The fundamental constitutional right to pursue a lawful occupation constitutes a 

�³liberty �L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�´���Z�L�W�K�L�Q���W�K�H���P�H�D�Q�L�Q�J���D�Q�G���V�X�E�M�H�F�W���W�R���W�Ke due process protections of the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and Article 1, Sections 1 and 8 of the 

Constitution of the State of Nevada; and therefore, by definition, may not be denied arbitrarily, 

capriciously, corruptly or based upon administrative partiality or favoritism. 

63. However, acting under color of state law, the Department has effectively nullified 

and rendered illusory the legislative statutory entitlement to licensure of applicants who comply 

with and prevail competitively in accordance with the objective and impartial standards and 

procedures prescribed by the provisions of NRS 453D.200.2 and NRS 453D.210.4-6, by 

�W�H�[�W�X�D�O�O�\�� �V�X�E�M�H�F�W�L�Q�J���D�Q�� �$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�� �Z�K�L�F�K�� �L�Q�� �I�D�F�W�� �S�U�R�Y�L�G�H�V���³�V�X�I�I�L�F�L�H�Q�W� �́� �U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�H�V�� �U�H�O�D�W�H�G�� �W�R�� �W�K�H��

published, enumerated and specific criteria set forth in the Application to approval pursuant to 

�I�X�U�W�K�H�U�����X�Q�S�X�E�O�L�V�K�H�G�����X�Q�V�S�H�F�L�I�L�H�G���D�Q�G���X�Q�D�V�F�H�U�W�D�L�Q�D�E�O�H���³�D�G�G�L�W�L�R�Q�D�O���F�U�L�W�H�U�L�D� �́��Z�K�L�F�K���D�U�H���Q�R�W���V�H�W���I�R�U�W�K��

therein, as a silent supplemental condition of licensure, in violation of NRS 200.D.1(b) thereby 

rendering the administrative regulation governing the Application and licensing process 

susceptible to ad hoc, non-transparent, arbitrary, capricious or corrupt decision-making based 

upon administrative partiality or favoritism which cannot be discounted; thereby rendering that 

regulatory scheme unconstitutional on its face. 

64.  On information and belief, Plaintiffs further allege that the pursuant to the 

implementation of the foregoing constitutionally-repugnant licensing process, the denial of their 

Applications for licensure, were in fact affected by actual arbitrary, capricious or corrupt 

decision-making based upon administrative partiality or favoritism; and therefore, that that 

licensing process has thereby been rendered unconstitutional in its application as well. 

65.  Plaintiffs have therefore likewise been deprived of liberty without due process 

under color of state law in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the 

United States and Article 1, Sections 1 and 8 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada. 

 66. The Constitutional infirmity of the entire licensing process renders the denial of 

�3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶���$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�V���I�R�U���O�L�F�H�Q�V�X�U�H���Y�R�L�G���D�Q�G���X�Q�H�Q�I�R�U�F�H�D�E�O�H�����D�Q�G, for the reasons set forth supra 

in �3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶���)�,�5�6�7���&�$�8�6�(���2�)���$�&�7�,�2�1���D�W���S�D�U�D�J�U�D�S�K�V 30 through 47, inclusive, Plaintiffs are 
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entitled to a declaration as to the ineffectiveness thereof and an order enjoining the enforcement 

of those license denials.  

 67. Plaintiffs are also entitled to damages for these due process violations pursuant 

to the provisions of 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 and otherwise.  

 68. As the actions of the Department have necessitated that Plaintiffs retain the legal 

services of Gentile Cristalli Miller Armeni Savarese, and incur fees and costs to bring this action, 

Plaintiffs are also entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs of suit.   

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Civil Rights) 

(Equal Protection) 

(U.S. Const., Amendment XIV; Nev. Const., Art. 1, Sec. 1; Title 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

69. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege all prior paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

 70. �%�\���L�P�S�U�R�S�H�U�O�\���G�H�Q�\�L�Q�J���3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶���$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�V���I�R�U���O�L�F�H�Q�V�X�U�H���X�Q�G�H�U���W�K�H��provisions 

of NRS 453D.200.2 and NRS 453D.210.4-6 while improperly granting the Applications of other 

applicants under color of state law as set forth supra �L�Q���3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶���)�,�5�6�7���&�$�8�6�(���2�)���$�&�7�,�2�1��

and SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION, the Department has, without justification, disparately 

�W�U�H�D�W�H�G���3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶���$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�V���D�E�V�H�Q�W���U�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O���E�Dsis, and has thereby violated Plaintiffs�¶ rights to 

equal protection of the law as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of 

the United States and Article 1, Section 1 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada. 

 71. The constitutional infirmity of the entire licensing process and the resulting denial 

of equal protection �U�H�Q�G�H�U�V�� �W�K�H�� �G�H�Q�L�D�O�� �R�I�� �3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶�� �$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�V�� �I�R�U�� �O�L�F�H�Q�V�X�U�H�� �Y�R�L�G���D�Q�G��

unenforceable, and�����I�R�U���W�K�H���U�H�D�V�R�Q�V���V�H�W���I�R�U�W�K���V�X�S�U�D���L�Q���3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶���)�,�5�6�7���&�$�8�6�(���2�)���$�&�7�,�2�1���D�W��

paragraphs 30 through 47, inclusive, Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration as to the 

ineffectiveness thereof and an order enjoining the enforcement of those license denials.  

 72. Plaintiffs are also entitled to damages for these equal protection violations 

pursuant to the provisions of 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 and otherwise.  

 73. As the actions of the Department have necessitated that Plaintiffs retain the legal 

services of Gentile Cristalli Miller Armeni Savarese, and incur fees and costs to bring this action, 
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Plaintiffs are also entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs of suit.   

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF  

 (Petition for Judicial Review) 
 

74. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege all prior paragraphs as though fully set forth 

herein. 

 75. The Department, in misinterpreting and incorrectly applying the provisions of 

NRS 453D, NAC 453D and the related Nevada laws and regulations, has exceeded its 

jurisdiction by improperly issuing licenses to applicants that do not merit licenses under the 

provisions of NRS 453D, NAC 453D, and R092-17.  

 76. Plaintiffs are aggrieved by the decision of the Department to deny Plaintiffs�¶��

Applications without proper notice, substantial evidence, or compliance with NRS 453D, NAC 

453D, R092-17, and other Nevada state laws or regulations.  

 77. There is no provision in NRS 453D, NAC 453D, or R092-17 allowing for an 

administrative appeal of the Department's decision, and apart from injunctive relief, no plain, 

speedy, and adequate remedy for the Department's improper actions.  

 78. Accordingly, Plaintiff petitions this Court for judicial review of the record on which 

the Department's denials were based, and an order providing inter alia: 

a. A determination that the decision lacked substantial evidence; 

b. A determination that the denials are void ab initio for non-compliance with 

NRS 453D, NAC 453D, R092-17, and other Nevada laws or regulations; and  

c. Such other relief as is consistent with those determinations.   

79. As the actions of the Department have necessitated that Plaintiffs retain the legal 

services of Gentile Cristalli Miller Armeni Savarese, and incur fees and costs to bring this action, 

Plaintiffs are also entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs of suit.   

FIFTH  CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Petition for Writ of Mandamus) 

80. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege all prior paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  

 81. �:�K�H�Q���D���J�R�Y�H�U�Q�P�H�Q�W�D�O���E�R�G�\���I�D�L�O�V���W�R���S�H�U�I�R�U�P���D�Q���D�F�W���³�W�K�D�W���W�K�H���O�D�Z���U�H�T�X�L�U�H�V� �́��R�U���D�F�W�V��
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in an arbitrary or capricious manner, a writ of mandamus shall issue to correct the action. Nev. 

Rev. Stat. § 34.160. 

 82. The Department has failed to perform various acts that the law requires including 

but not limited to: 

a. Providing proper pre-hearing notice of the denial; and  

b. Arbitrarily and capriciously denying the applications for no legitimate reason.  

83. The Department acted arbitrarily and capriciously in the denial by performing 

and/or failing to perform the acts set forth supra, and because, inter alia: 

a. The Board lacked �V�X�E�V�W�D�Q�W�L�D�O���H�Y�L�G�H�Q�F�H���W�R���G�H�Q�\���3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶���$pplications; and 

b. The Board denied �3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶���$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�V��in order to approve the Applications 

of other competing applicants without regard to the merit of �3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶��

Applications and the lack of merit of the Applications of other competing 

applicants. 

84. These violations of t�K�H���'�H�I�H�Q�G�D�Q�W�V�¶���O�H�J�D�O���G�X�W�L�H�V���Z�H�U�H���D�U�E�L�W�U�D�U�\���D�Q�G���F�D�S�U�L�F�L�R�X�V�� 

actions that compel this Court to issue a Writ of Mandamus directing the Department to review  

�3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I�V�¶���$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�V���R�Q���W�K�H�L�U merits and/or approve them. 

85. �$�V���D���U�H�V�X�O�W�� �R�I�� �W�K�H�� �'�H�I�H�Q�G�D�Q�W�V�¶�� �X�Q�O�D�Zful and arbitrary and capricious actions, 

Plaintiff has been forced to retain legal counsel to prosecute this action and is therefore also 

�H�Q�W�L�W�O�H�G�� �W�R�� �L�W�V�� �G�D�P�D�J�H�V�����F�R�V�W�V�� �L�Q�� �W�K�L�V�� �V�X�L�W�����D�Q�G���D�Q���D�Z�D�U�G�� �R�I���D�W�W�R�U�Q�H�\�V�¶�� �I�H�H�V�� �S�X�U�V�X�D�Q�W�� �W�R�� �1�5�6��

34.270. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS pray for relief as follows: 

1. For declaratory relief as set forth above; 

2. For a preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining the enforcement of the 

denial of their Applications for licensure; 

3. For judicial review of the record and history on which the denial of those 

Applications was based; 

4.  For the issuance of a writ of mandamus;  
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5. For compensatory and special damages as set forth herein; 

6.  For �D�W�W�R�U�Q�H�\�V�¶���I�H�H�V���D�Q�G���F�R�V�W�V���R�I���V�X�L�W; and  

7. For all other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.  

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Trial by jury is hereby demanded on all claims and issues so triable. 

DATED this 3rd day of July, 2019. 

GENTILE CRISTALLI  
MILLER ARMENI SAVARESE 
 
 
  /s/ Vincent Savarese, III, Esq.  
DOMINIC P. GENTILE 
Nevada Bar No. 1923 
MICHAEL V. CRISTALLI 
Nevada Bar No. 6266 ____ 
ROSS MILLER 
Nevada Bar No. 8190 ____ 
VINCENT SAVARESE III  
Nevada Bar No. 2467 
410 S. Rampart Blvd., Suite 420 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89145 
Tel: (702) 880-0000 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 The undersigned, an employee of Gentile, Cristalli, Miller, Armeni Savarese, hereby certifies that 

on the 3rd day of July, 2019, I caused a copy of the foregoing CORRECTED FIRST AMENDED 

COMPLAINT  by electronic service in accordance with Administrative Order 14.2, to all interested 

�S�D�U�W�L�H�V�����W�K�U�R�X�J�K���W�K�H���&�R�X�U�W�¶�V��Odyssey E-File & Serve system. 

Aaron Ford, Esq. 
Attorney General 
Robert Werbicky, Esq. 
Deputy Attorney General 
Office of the Attorney General 
555 E. Washington Ave., Suite 3900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Email: rwerbicky@ag.nv.gov 
Attorneys for Nevada Department of Taxation 
 

Joseph A. Gutierrez, Esq. 
Jason R. Maier, Esq. 
Maier Gutierrez & Associates 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Email: jrm@mgalaw.com 
 jag@mgalaw.com 
 

Philip M. Hymanson, Esq. 
Henry Joseph Hymanson, Esq. 
Hymanson & Hymanson 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Email: Phil@HymansonLawNV.com 
           Hank@HymansonLawNV.com 
 Attorneys for Defendants Integral Associates 
 LLC d/b/a Essence Cannabis Dispensaries,  
 Essence Tropicana, LLC, Essence Henderson,  
 LLC, CPCM Holdings, LLC d/b/a Thrive  
 Cannabis Marketplace, Commerce Park Medical, LLC, 
Cheyenne Medical, LLC 
 

Eric D. Hone, Esq. 
Jamie L. Zimmerman, Esq. 
Moorea L. Katz, Esq. 
H1 Law Group 
701 N. Green Valley Pkwy., Suite 200 
Henderson, NV 89074 
Email: eric@h1lawgroup.com 
 jamie@h1lawgroup.com  
 moorea@h1lawgroup.com 
Attorneys for Defendant Lone Mountain  
Partners, LLC 
 

Jared Kahn, Esq. 
JK Legal & Consulting, LLC 
9205 West Russell Road, Suite 240 
Las Vegas, NV 89148 
Email: jkahn@jk-legalconsulting.com 
Attorneys for Helping Hands Wellness Center, Inc. 
 

Margaret A. McLetchie, Esq. 
Alina M. Shell, Esq. 
McLetchie Law 
701 East Bridger Ave., Suite 250 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Email: maggie@nvlitigation.com 
Attorneys for GreenMart of Nevada NLV, LLC 
 

Brigid M. Higgins, Esq. 
Rusty J. Graf, Esq. 
Black & LoBello 
10777 West Twain Ave., Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 
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